FLOWER DEVELOPMENT IN GERBERA HYBRIDA, ASTERACEAE

Mika Kotilainen

Institute of Biotechnology and Department of Biosciences, Division of Genetics University of Helsinki Finland

Academic dissertation To be presented for public criticism, with permission of the Faculty of Science, University of Helsinki, in the auditorium 1041 of the Biocenter, Viikinkaari 5 on January 19th, 2001, at 12 o'clock noon

Helsinki 2000

Supervisor:	Professor Teemu Teeri Institute of Biotechnology University of Helsinki, Finland
Reviewers:	Docent Pia Runeberg-Roos Institute of Biotechnology University of Helsinki, Finland
	Professor Tuomas Sopanen Department of Biology University of Joensuu, Finland
Opponent:	Professor Peter Engström Department of Physiological Botany Uppsala University, Sweden

ISSN 1239-9469 ISBN 951-45-9675-7 ISBN 952-91-3049-X (PDF)

Gummerus Kirjapaino Saarijärvi 2000

Cover figure: Gerbera inflorescence of the anti-*GRCD1* line t3.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	6
ABBREVIATIONS	6
ABSTRACT	7
INTRODUCTION	9
Logic of development	9
The Developmental pathway: From signals to phenotypes	9
Developing organisms are modular in organization	9
Signalling genes are pleiotropic	10
Transcriptional regulators are the key switches in development	10
Evolution of plant form: Cis-regulatory regions of transcriptional	
regulators as hotspots	11
Flower development	11
Transcriptional regulators and flower development	11
Pattern formation in flower development	12
Dorsoventral patterning	12
Specification of the fate of flower organ primordia: All you need is	
A, B and C functions	13
Inside the (B and) C functions	14
Upstream of ABC: Complex regulatory interactions that establish	
the pattern of A, B and C gene activities	15
MADS box genes and evolution of plant development	16
Petals: Evolution and organogenesis	17
The origin of petals	17
Petals, a simple model of organogenesis	19
Flower development in Asteraceae	19
AIMS OF THE STUDY	21
MATERIALS AND METHODS	22
Plant material	22
Methods	22
RESULTS	23
Defining the roles of B and C function MADS box genes in gerbera	23
B and C function MADS box genes and modified pattern of flower development	
in gerbera	24
GRCD1 participates in the C function	24
Study of organogenesis using petal abundant genes	25
Spatial and temporal expression pattern of a petal abundant gene GLTP1	26
GEG, a GAST1 like gene, and late organogenesis of the gerbera petal	27
DISCUSSION	29
Power of MADS box genes	29
Power of a simple model	29
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	31
REFERENCES	32

publications, abbreviations

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original publications, referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

I Yu D*, Kotilainen M*, Pöllänen E, Mehto M, Elomaa P, Helariutta Y, Albert VA, Teeri TH (1999). Organ identity genes and modified patterns of flower development in *Gerbera hybrida* (Asteraceae). Plant J. 17: 51-62. *Joint first authors.

II Kotilainen M, Elomaa P, Uimari A, Albert VA, Yu D, Teeri TH (2000). *GRCD1*, a *AGL2*-like MADS box gene, participates in the C function during stamen development in *Gerbera hybrida*. Plant Cell 12 (10), 1893-1902.

III Kotilainen M, Helariutta Y, Elomaa P, Paulin L, Teeri TH (1994). A corolla- and carpel-abundant, non-specific lipid transfer protein gene is expressed in the epidermis and parenchyma of *Gerbera hybrida* var. Regina (*Compositae*). Plant Mol Biol 26: 971-978.

IV Kotilainen M, Helariutta Y, Mehto M, Pöllänen E, Albert VA, Elomaa P, Teeri TH (1999). *GEG* participates in the regulation of cell and organ shape during corolla and carpel development in *Gerbera hybrida*. Plant Cell 11 (6), 1093-1104.

ABBREVIATIONS

bp	base pair
cDNA	complementary DNA
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
GA	gibberellic acid
LTP	lipid transfer protein
mRNA	messenger RNA
nsLTP	nonspecific LTP
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
RNA	ribonucleic acid

abstract

ABSTRACT

As a genetically determined structure, flower is an attractive object for developmental studies in plants. Flower development provides a good system for understanding cell differentiation and genetic mechanisms needed for organogenesis. The current molecular view on flower development has been based on studies on relatively few model species, like Arabidopsis and Antirrhinum. Research in model species, for which classical genetics is available, remains to be an important approach although it is evident that a large proportion of biological phenomena is missing from the range of variation in these species. Therefore it is important to study molecular processes behind the flower development in other species as well. Our approach for studying the central developmental phenomena is to use Gerbera hybrida as an experimental system. Gerbera is a member of plant family Asteraceae, which is one of the largest families in angiosperms, with over 20 000 species world wide. The Asteraceae is characterized by composite inflorescence, the capitulum, that is structurally highly adapted to insect mediated pollination. One of the major advantages of using gerbera as a model for Asteraceae is the ability to genetically transform this species.

In this study, functional analysis of the general regulation of various aspects of flower development and organ differentation has been presented. By using the regulatory genes from the MADS box family, it has been shown that the basic features of flower organ determination deduced from the model species are also present in gerbera. The characterization of genes which participate in B and C functions allowed us to use them as instruments to study the flower characteristics that are typical to Asteraceae. By using this approach it could be concluded that pappus bristles are true sepals, that B and C function genes are not participating in feminization of marginal flowers and that abortion of stamens in the marginal female flowers depends on their identity.

Furthermore, genetic down regulation of expression of *GRCD1*, a member of a large *AGL2*-like MADS box gene family, revealed that it participates in determination of stamen identity during flower development in gerbera.

The development of petals, like other floral organs, is determined by genetic factors. The simple internal structure of petals and their relatively large size in gerbera ray flowers, make them a good model for studying plant organogenesis. In this study, two different strategies were chosen. First we isolated and analysed genes that were abundantly expressed in petals and secondly we attempted to to isolate genes with differential expression patterns within the petal. In addition to petals, all the clones analysed were expressed also in other floral organ. The most prominent class of genes was the one that was expressed abundantly during the development of petals and carpels. Detailed analysis of expression patterns of seven genes within the petal showed that their expression followed a basipetal pattern, thus first signal can be seen in the distal region of the petal with expression proceeding towards the proximal part of the petal. One of the most abundantly expressed genes during petal development is a gerbera lipid transfer protein (GLTP1). It's expression is petal and carpel specific and proceeds basipetally during petal development.

Another abundantly expressed gene during petal development is gerbera homolog of GAST1, GEG. GEG expression was detected in petals and carpels, with expression temporally correlating with the cessation of longitudinal cell expansion. In plants constitutively expressing GEG, reduced petal lengths and carpels with shortened and radially expanded stylar parts were found. Epidermal cells of both corolla and carpel are reduced in length. Radial expansion of the epidermal cells of carpel was also observed. Taken together these observations indicate that GEG participate in the regulation of cell and organ shape during petal and carpel development in gerbera.

abstract

Thus, asteraceous gerbera has been shown to have both concerved and derived molecular processes relative to model species in flower development. Furthermore it has proven to be a powerful system for functional analysis of general regulation of various aspects of flower development and organ differentation.

INTRODUCTION

LOGIC OF DEVELOPMENT

The divergence of plants, animals and fungi has been estimated from sequence data of several genes, have taken place around 1.6 billion years ago (Wang et al, 1999). The earliest fossil records of multicellular plants and animals known so far date from about 570-580 million years ago, sometime between 1.6 and 0.6 billion years ago parallel, independent multicellular development of two lineages, which have led to present-day plants and animals has took place (Li et al. 1999 and Xiao et al. 1999). Comparing plant development with animal development has revealed not only common developmental mechanisms, but also similarities in the logic of development. Many common principles guide development in these multicellular organisms. In their developmental programs, both plants and animals go through five similar stages, namely production of gametes, fertilization (fusion of gametes), series of cell divisions (cleavage), histodifferentation/gastrulation and organogenesis.

The major differences in their developmental programs are the two last stages, histodifferentation/gastrulation and organogenesis. As opposed to animal gastrulation which depends on cell movement, plant cells are not able to move during histodifferentation. Moreover, organogenesis continues throughout a plant's life enabling it to cope with fluctuating environmental conditions. For example immobile plants exploit existing and changing environmental conditions by introducing new organs with different functions and shapes (Walbot and Holder, 1987). Another way in which plants differ from animals is that the plant life cycle includes an independent haploid phase. The dominance of diploid and haploid phases of the life cycle varies between plant groups and generally speaking the diploid phase dominates in higher plants and the haploid phase in lower plants. At the cellular level

plants have novel features compared to animals. A complex rigid cell wall consisting of many different and unique components and fibres surrounds plant cells giving them a relatively rigid shape. Also, vacuoles filled with water and water-soluble compounds can occupy 90% of the cell volume of mature cells. The major function of the vacuoles is to develop a turgor pressure and hence maintain tissue rigidity.

THE DEVELOPMENTAL PATHWAY: FROM SIGNALS TO PHENOTYPES

Developing organisms are modular in organization

The developmental pathway consists of individual modules which are arranged semihierarchically Raff (1996). One module can be understood as a flow of information starting with signal which is transmitted a via signal transduction pathway, which is then transmitted by gene transcriptional regulators and eventually seen as a phenotype (Figure 1). Developmental programs in metazoan development are suggested to be controlled by short tightly linked cascades of genes that force downstream genes into particular expression patterns. Many of these regulatory genes are transcription factors. For example cells which respond to external signals have receptors for them. The receptors transmit the signal via one of the many possible signalling systems. This leads to an upregulation of a chain of genes which results in the production of transcription factors which in turn determines the mode of differentiation of the receptive cell (Raff, 1996). The signals may be internal (for example a plant hormone such as gibberellic acid) or environmental (for example day length). The signal transduction pathway consists of gene products which are needed for signal production, perception, transmission and modification. Transcriptional regulators are gene products which regulate gene expression by interacting directly with the cisregulatory elements of the target genes. Target genes are specific to the module and their

introduction

function depend on the position of the module in the developmental pathway (Doebley and Lukens, 1998; Figure 1). Thus, plant development starts with internal signals directing the modules needed to guide embryogenesis and continues with hierarchically arranged modules which are activated in the right order by the continual flow of internal and external signals. Processes, cell types, tissues or organ systems visualize the modules (Doebley and Lukens, 1998). For example, one module is needed for anthosyanin pigmentation and another regulates petal development.

Signalling genes are pleiotrophic

Doubley and Lukens (1996) compiled a list of cloned genes corresponding to Arabidopsis mutant phenotypes with altered morphology according to their level of pleiotrophy. The mutant phenotypes were categorized from non pleiotropic (mutation afffects only a single organ or organ system) to strongly pleiotropic (mutations which strongly the disrupt overall development of the plant). In this analysis signalling genes (genes needed for signal production, perception, transmission and modification) tend to have broad pleitrophic effects, suggesting that they participate in several developmental processes and are shared between multiple developmental modules. An example of pleitrophic effects of signalling genes comes from the studies of the hormonal signalling in the maintenance of floral meristem identity. Okamuro et al. (1996) showed that SPINDLY (SPY) whose function is to repress the GA signal transduction pathway, is highly pleiotropic. Homozygous mutations in SPY activate a basal level of gibberellin signalling in a hormone independent manner. SPY is upstream of LEAFY (LFY), a transcription factor which contributes to the maintenance of floral meristem identity. LFY has more narrowly pleiotropic effects; homozygous lfy mutants are characterized by a partial and conditional block in the establishment of the floral meristem.



Figure 1. Simplified representation of the interactions among genes in developmental pathway. Redrawn from Doubley and Lukens (1998).

Transcriptional regulators are the key switches in development

The fact that transcriptional regulators are key elements in evolution has become communal wisdom among developmental biologists during recent years. The analysis of Doubley and Lukens (see above) revealed that mutations in transcriptional regulators typically have less severe phenotypic effects when compared to signalling genes. Thus, transcriptional regulators should be good targets for evolutionary modifications because alterations in their action do not have a major influence on development in general. Transcription factors are able to control very precisely coordinate the expression of their target genes. Therefore, they can act as switches which determine the phenotypic characteristics which are for example typical for each species. Transcriptional regulators could also act as evolutionary switches by providing coordinate expression of target

introduction

genes in new temporal and/or spatial contexts. This would move previously tested function into new contexts, thus giving rise for the development of novel phenotypes (Goodrich et al., 1992; Hanson et al., 1996; Doubley and Lukens, 1998).

Evolution of plant form: Cis-regulatory regions of transcriptional regulators as hotspots

Although the early pieces of evidence were suggestive, the view that changes in the temporal and/or spatial patterns of gene expression are important evolutionary mechanisms was understood already before the onset of molecular studies. Later, the importance of cis-regulatory elements in evolution has been strengthened. Cisregulatory regions are susceptible to rearrangements implying that they could be tools for evolutionary mechanisms (Wessler et al., 1995). Moreover, modular organization of cis-regulatory regions enables a greater evolutionary flexibility (Kirchhamer et al. 1996). The expression pattern of a gene can be changed by allowing distinct elements to be added to, or removed from, its cis-regulatory regions without disrupting its other elements.

Doubley and Lukens (1998) have combined what is known of the cis-regulatory regions and transcriptional regulators to claim that they are the two key molecular mechanisms for the evolution of plant form. They have proposed that modifications in the cis-regulatory regions of transcriptional activators are the key switches in the evolution of novel forms. One of the most convincing lines of evidence for their suggestion comes from the studies of Chen et al. (1997). They showed that a spontaneous mutant of tomato, which has highly dissected leaves, is due to the fusion of a promoter of *PFP* gene in front of a *LeT6* homeobox gene. This rearrangement results in overexpression of the homeodomain protein. These results show that this kind of gene fusion can cause changes in expression patterns that lead to altered morphology. The

authors suggest that such phenomena may have played a role in the evolution of the plant form. Future work on identifying and characterizing more molecular components and mechanisms needed for specific events of plant development will further test the model.

FLOWER DEVELOPMENT

Transcriptional regulators and flower development

Several universal groups of transcription regulating genes control different developmental processes during plant development. MADS box genes, *bHLH*, *MYB* and homeobox genes are the well-known groups which participate also in regulating flower development. The most prominent group of genes are those encoding the MADS domain containing transcriptional regulators (see below) and other major groups are *MYC* (*bHLH*)-, *MYB*-, and homeodomain containing proteins.

In maize, the R/G gene family of transcription are similar to the MYC-proto-oncogenes, now better know as the basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) transcriptional activators, regulate the expression of biosynthetic genes needed for anthocyanin pigment formation in combination with members of another gene family (C1/PI) that are related to MYB oncogenes (Ludwig and Wessler, 1990). Also in dicot plants factors of same classes are involved in regulation of anthocyanin biosynthetic genes. In Petunia regulators of both bHLH (JAF13) and MYB (AN2) classes have been isolated and ectopic co-expression of them is sufficient for activation of late anthocyanin gene, DFRA, gene and enhanged pigment accumulation (Quattrocchio et al., 1998). In gerbera, expression DFR is regulated according to anthocyanin pigmentation patterns in all tested varieties at several anatomical levels. Furthermore, the activity of the PGDFR2 promoter of *DFR* from the variety Regina follows the pigmentation in other

varieties which have different color patterns, thus the complex regulation of DFR expression occurs in trans. To identify the trans-acting regulators, a bHLH-type regulator, GMYC1 was isolated and shown to have a major role in regulating DFR activity in corolla and carpel, but not in pappus and stamen. The identical patterns of GMYC1 and DFR expression in corolla tissue suggest that GMYC1 also regulates DFR expression in a region and flower type specific manner in Gerbera (Elomaa et al., 1998). MYC (bHLH)-, MYB-, and the homeodomain containing proteins also participate in the regulation of flower development. Thus, MYC (bHLH)- and MYBlike transcription factors are key regulators of expression of flavonoid pathway genes. Flavonoids are used in multiple ways in plant development and for example in flowers they are involved in formation of pigmentation and certain flavonols are needed for pollen tube growth (reviewed by Harborne and Grayer, 1993 and Coe et al., 1981).

Homeodomain proteins, which are critical in determining posterior-anterior body axes throughout the animal kingdom, form one major universal group of transcriptional regulators in higher plants. They can be divided into five groups: HD-BELL1, HD-KNOTTED, HD-ZIP, PHD-Finger and HD-GL2 and in general, they are shown to play roles in cell specification and pattern formation (Lu et al., 1996). For example BELL1 is considered to be involved in determining integument development and KNOTTED is thought to maintain the indeterminate state of apical meristems (Long et al., 1996 and Kerstetter et al., 1997). One of the best documented Arabidopsis HD-Zip gene, ATHB-2, is transcriptionally induced by far-red-rich light. Its gene product affects cell elongation in hypocotyls and cotyledons as well as secondary thickening in roots and hypocotyls by acting as a negative regulator of gene expression (Steindler et al., 1999). Many of Arabidopsis HD-Zip class homeodomain encoding genes are expressed during flower development. ATHB-5, -6, -7, -8, -9, -12 and -14 are also expressed during flower development (Söderman et al., 1994; Sessa et al., 1998; Lee and Chung, 1998). For example, besides in developing roots, leaves and cotyledons, *ATHB-6* is detected in the pistils of young flowers. The response of *ATBH6* expression to water deficiency depends on the synthesis of abscisic acid and thus it has been suggested that ATBH6 participates in the growth response of plants to drought (Söderman et al., 1999).

Lee and Schiefelbein (1999) presented beautifully how different kinds of regulatory proteins control cell patterning during specification of Arabidopsis root epidermal cell types. WEREWOLF (WER), a MYB-related protein has been shown to be a position dependent regulator of epidermal cell patterning during root development. Moreover WER has been shown to regulate the position dependent expression of a homeobox gene, to interact with a bHLH (MYC) protein and to act in opposition to a truncated MYB-like protein, CAPRICE. Thus, it is likely that different kinds of transcriptional regulators work together in controlling other developmental modules as well.

Pattern formation in flower development

Dorsoventral patterning

Dorsoventral patterning in plant development takes place when lateral organs and shoots emerge from the flanks of the shoot apical meristem (SAM). Many of these organs, like leaves and flowers may be asymmetrical in their shape. Dorsoventrality is a result of differences in the abaxial and adaxial growth of lateral SAM and its flanking regions. Dorsoventral pattern is also revealed by abaxial or adaxial specific expression of certain genes. The most interesting ones are those genes that encode putative transcription factors, thus being potentially key regulators in making the difference between the abaxial and adaxial sides; the dorsoventral pattern. The CYCLOIDEA (CYC) gene is expressed in the adaxial side of the Antirrhinum flower primordia and in adaxially localized flower organ primordia. CYC is suggested, together with its closely related protein, DICHOTOMA (DICH), to repress the development of abaxial identity in the adaxial side of flower (Luo et al, 1996 and 1999). CYC and DICH belong to the TCP gene family, members of which encode putative transcription factors (Cubas et al., 1999). Members of Arabidopsis multigene family YABBY are suggested to promote abaxial cell fate, FILAMENTOUS FLOWER (FIL), YABBY2 and YABBY3 (YAB3) in leaf, floral meristems and all floral organs and CRABSCLAW in gynoecium and floral meristem, respectively (Alvarez and Smyth, 1999; Bowman and Smyth, 1999; Sawa et al., 1999; Siegfried et al., 1999). Ectopic expression of either YAB3 or FIL is sufficient to induce abaxialization of lateral organs (Siegfried et al., 1999). Gene redundancy plays significant role in abaxial-adaxial patterning, such as YABBY gene family represents, just as the MADS box gene family does in pattern formation during flower organogenesis (see below). Abaxialadaxial patterning in gene expression gives rise to asymmetry seen in the phenotype of many leaves and shoots. For example organ shape and cell type differences between the abaxial and adaxial sides in mature leaves ensure that the plant directs most of its light harvesting capacity towards the light (Sessions and Yanofsky, 1999).

Specification of of the fate of flower organ primordia: All you need is A, B and C functions

The wild type flowers in most of the flowering plants consist of four concentric regions called whorls. The outermost whorl, whorl one, is occupied by sepals; whorl two, petals; whorl three, stamens and the inner whorl four, carpels. The analysis of mutations affecting flower structure in Arabidopsis and Antirrhinum has led to compilation of the ABC model and identification of the genes regulating flower organ identity. The ABC model proposes that three functions, A, B and C, are expressed in adjacent overlapping domains. A function alone specifies sepal identity in wild type whorl one. The combination of A and B specifies petal identity in whorl two, the combination of B and C specifies stamen identity in whorl three. Expression of C function alone specifies carpel identity in whorl four and the determinacy of the flower meristem. Thus, the ABC model proposes that A function is present in whorls one and two. B function in whorls two and three and C function in whorls three and four (Figure 2). It also suggests that A and C functions are antagonists to each other, and that B function is restricted to whorls two and three independently of A and C functions. Analysis of mutants for B and C functions in several flowering plants are in line with the simplified, and thus excellent ABC model. This further suggests that determination of flower organ identity is conserved among flowering plants. However, the model fails to explain why loss of function mutants of B function in Antirrhinum lack the fourth whorl. This suggests that B function is, at least indirectly, needed for the formation of the fourth whorl (Tröbner et al., 1992). Problems are more severe with the A function; in fact A function mutant phenotypes are known only in Arabidopsis thus far and for example searches for A function genes by homology based searches has not been successful (Maes et al., 1998; Theißen et al., 1999). These findings suggest that A function is phylogenetically less conserved, thus problems in defining the A function reflect the quite recent and multiple origin of the flower perianth: sepals and petals (Theißen et al., 1999, see also below).

Genes providing A, B and C functions in Arabidopsis and B and C functions in Antirrhinum, respectively, have been cloned (Yanofsky et al., 1990; Jack et al., 1992; Mandel et al., 1992; Schwarz-Sommer et al., 1992; Tröbner et al., 1992; Bradley et al., 1993; Goto and Meyerowitz, 1994). In Arabidopsis, for the A function activity of both *APETALA1 (AP1)* and *APETALA2 (AP2)*, for the B function *PISTILLATA (PI)* and *APETALA3(AP3)* and for the C function *AGAMOUS (AG)* is needed. In

introduction





Figure 2. Schematic picture of flower structure and the ABC floral organ identity model.

Antirrhinum, the orthologous genes for the B function are *GLOBOSA* (*GLO*) and *DEFICIENS* (*DEF*) and for the C function *PLENA* (*PLE*) and *FARINELLI* (*FAR*). All of them, except *AP2* share a highly conserved,

180 bp long DNA sequence, called the MADS box. The corresponding domain in the protein is responsible for the DNA binding ability of the protein. The MADS domain proteins in seed plants are modular in their nature, and most of them consist of MADS (M), intervening (I), keratin-like (K) and C-terminal (C) domains. Thus, they are often called MIKC type MADS box genes (Münster et al., 1997). The major function of MADS domain is to perform DNA binding, but it also participates in dimerization and could be involved in binding accessory factors (Shore et al., 1997). The I region, just C-terminal of the MADS domain, largely determines the partner specificity of protein dimerization typical to MADS proteins (Riechmann et al., 1996). The K domain, which is found only in plant MADS proteins, is capable of interacting with another K domain and hence promote dimerization. The function for C domain is not known but it has been suggested to be involved in transcriptional activation or participate in formation of multimeric transcription factor complexes (Theißen et al., 1999).

Inside the (B and) C function

Phylogenetic analyses have revealed that the MADS box gene family consists of several gene groups, clades. Many clade members have highly similar sequences, share similar expression patterns and, if analysed, have highly related functions. For example, those MADS box genes that are needed for A, B and C functions fall into separate clades, namely, the SQUA group (A function), GLO and DEF groups (B functions) and AG group (C function and ovule determining genes) (see e.g. study I). Taken together, phylogenetic analyses suggest that these MADS box subfamilies have defined roles in the morphological evolution of plants (Theißen et al., 1996). But are the genes which fall into a distinct clade sufficient to perform the function the clade represents? For example, is AGAMOUS, the only Arabidopsis MADS box gene which fall into the AG group, sufficient for the C function in Arabidopsis? This

introduction

conclusion can be easily drawn from results which show that ectopic expression of AG in all whorls of Arabidopsis flower changes the identity of whorls one and two to carpels/ carpel-like organs and stamens/staminoid petals, respectively. The change in the identity of these perianth organs resemble that of ap2like flowers (= loss of A function, Mizukami and Ma, 1992). The capability of AG for forming homodimers and thus performing the C function alone have been questioned by the finding that AGAMOUS can form homodimers only when the 5' ORF before the MADS box has been taken away form the construct (G. Theißen, personal communication). Furthermore a recent report on SEPALLATA1-3 (SEP1-3) genes (formerly known as AGL2, AGL4 and AGL9) shows that they are redundantly needed for B and C floral organ identity functions. SEP1-3 genes are MADS box genes belonging to the AGL2 clade, and genetic and protein-protein interaction data suggest that SEP proteins interact directly with the products of members of the AG, DEF and GLO groups (Pelaz et al., 2000). These results together with our findings with GRCD1 in Gerbera presented below indicate that genes falling outside the AG, DEF, GLO and SQUA clades are needed to fulfill the A, B and C functions in different plant species.

According to the classical ABC model, the separation of identity between whorls three and four is thought to be taken care of by B class genes. However inside the C function, analyses of different ag mutants in Arabidopsis have revealed that different C function activities (stamen specification, carpel specification and flower meristem determinacy) can be separated. This makes it possible that the fine tuning of the C function between whorls three and four could in part be involved in the separation of the identity of whorls three and four. The molecular separation mechanism in Arabidopsis remains to be demonstrated, but two models have been proposed: The quantitative model predicts that the amount of protein needed varies for each of the functions and the qualitative model

in turn proposes that AGAMOUS could make heterodimers with different partners in different functions (Sieburth et al., 1995).

Upstream of ABC: Complex regulatory interactions that establish the pattern of A, B and C gene activities

A, B and C gene activities depend on the earlier action of meristem identity genes and the patterned expression of floral homeotic genes is regulated by means of transcriptional regulation. The well studied example is the Arabidopsis meristem identity gene LEAFY (LFY), a transcription factor which is shown to be a direct upstream regulator of the floral homeotic genes AGAMOUS, APETALA3 and APETALA1 (Parcy et al., 1998; Busch et al., 1999). Parcy et al. (1998) were able to show that role of LFY in the meristem initiation could be separated from its role in the later activation of these floral homeotic genes. Different mechanisms are used in the activation of A, B or C function genes. The B and C function genes AP3 and AG are expressed in region specific manner.

In the case of AP3, the combination of LFY, which is expressed uniformly in flower primordia, and UFO, which is expressed in a region specific manner in shoots and flower meristems, provide information needed. Thus, LFY provides flower meristem specificity and UFO provides the whorl two and three region specificity (Parcy et al., 1998). However, there is evidence that co-expression of LFY and UFO is not sufficient for AP3 expression. For example in the early stages of flower primorida, in which LFY is expressed at high levels, constitutive expression of UFO fails to initiate AP3 expression. Therefore, Lee et al. (1997) suggest that additional factors are needed for induction of AP3 expression.

The role of *LFY* in the regulation of *AG* expression is more complex. *LFY* seems to have both a positive and a negative role in the regulation of *AG*. For example not all flowers of the strong *lfy* mutants are replaced by shoot

like organs and eventually AG is expressed at similar levels as in wild type flowers and in addition AG is expressed ectopically in the stems of *lfy* mutants. These findings indicate that *LFY* has also a negative role in the regulation of AG expression (Busch et al., 1999). In plants, which expressed an activated form of LFY protein, AG was expressed ectopically earlier and at elevated levels compared to wild type flowers. This suggests that *LFY* interacts with a region specific factor X that restricts AG expression to a subset of *LFY* expressing cells (whorls three and four, Parcy et al., 1998).

The expression of the C function genes, like Arabidopsis AGAMOUS, is restricted to the third and fourth whorls by several partially redundant factors. Mutations in genes like AP2, ANT, CURLY LEAF, LEUNIG and STERILE APETALA cause AG misexpression in various regions of the plant (Drews et al., 1991; Liu and Meyerowitz, 1995; Goodrich et al, 1997; Byzova et al., 1999 and Krizek et al., 2000). In ap2 mutants AG is expressed ectopically in whorls one and two resulting in homeotic transformations of these organs into carpels and stamens, respectively (Drews et al., 1991). CURLY LEAF inhibits AG expression mainly in vegetative tissues and at later developmental stages also in petals (Goodrich et al., 1997).

The regulation of expression pattern of ABC genes involves the activity and cooperation of several different transcriptional regulators, and clearly illustrates how different regulators work together in controlling developmental modules. It is tempting to speculate that patterning of flower organs has co-opted the meristem patterning system (including involving *LFY* activity) when flower organs were built up to perform sexual reproduction during evolution (Parcy et al., 1998).

MADS box genes and evolution of plant development

Although the origin of MADS box genes is

unclear, bacterial sequence motifs to that are homologous to the MADS domain suggest that a precursor of the MADS box like DNA binding domain was present before the separation of bacterial and eukaryotic lineages, 2-3.5 billion years ago (Martin, 1996; Mushegian and Koonin, 1996). True MADS box genes have been found in all three kingdoms; fungi, animals and plants, thus supporting the presumption that the common ancestor of these eucaryotic taxa (about one billion years ago) already had true MADS box genes (Theißen et al., 1996). A recent analysis by Alvarez-Buylla et al. (2000) suggests that duplication of an ancestral MADS box gene occurred before the divergence of plants and animals. This diversification gave rise to two main lineages of MADS box genes: types I and II. Type I lineage consist of genes encoding animal SRF like MADS domain proteins but interestingly, AGL34 like proteins, a group of plant MADS proteins without the K domain, fall into this group. Most of the plant proteins, which all have the K domain, form a group with MEF2 like sequences to form type II. Thus, this suggests that the K domain evolved after the duplication of these two lineages (Alvarez-Buylla et al., 2000). Svensson et al. (2000) isolated and analysed a MIKC type MADS box gene, LAMB1, from a clubmoss, Lycopodium annotium. Clubmosses are a sister group to other vascular plants: ferns and seed plants. Phylogenetic analyses show that LAMB1 is situated at the base of other K box containing genes. This finding and the structural differences in sequence compared to typical K box containing MADS box genes suggests that LAMB1 is a primitive MIKC gene. Interestingly, LAMB1 is expressed exclusively in a reproductive structure of the moss, the strobilus, during sporogenesis. Thus it is tempting to speculate that the reproductive expression pattern of MIKC like MADS box genes, revealed by LAMB1, is original and ancestral (Svensson et al, 2000). Several MADS box genes have been isolated from ferns, a sister group of the seed plants. These two groups diverged about 400 million years ago. Most of the MADS box genes

introduction

isolated from the fern *Ceratopteris* have the typical structure of a seed plant MADS box gene. Their MADS domain sequence and overall domain structure are typical to MIKC type genes (reviewed in Theißen et al., 1999). Phylogenetic reconstruction analyses suggest that at least two (probably even four) different MIKC type MADS box genes already existed in the last common ancestor of ferns and seed plants (Münster et al., 1997).

Comparisons between angiosperm and gymnosperm MADS box genes have shed light on understanding the common schemes in regulation of the reproductive organs in all seed plants. As described above, the analysis of the functions of MADS box genes in Arabidopsis and Antirrhinum and establishing of the ABC model suggest that the same regulational system could be responsible for determining the flower organs in other angiosperm species. This argument is questioned also in one of the articles which make up this thesis (study I). But does the same hold true in gymnosperms? Tandre et al. (1998) have shown that DAL2, the ortholog of AG from Norway spruce, Picea abies, when expressed constitutively in transgenic Arabidopsis, causes developmental alterations very similar to those observed in plants ectopically expressing AG. Moreover, transcription of DAL2 is restricted to the reproductive organs, the unisexual cones, especially in the developing ovule-bearing organ, the ovuliferous scale, but also in pollen cone (Tandre et al., 1998; and Sundström et al., 1999). Thus, a gymnosperm, the Norway spruce, seems to have a gene, DAL2, which is structurally and functionally related to angiosperm C class genes. Phylogenetic analysis and the presence of B class specific C terminal motifs in three Norway spruce genes, DAL11, DAL12 and DAL13 indicate that the genes are related to angiosperm B function genes. Specific expression of all three genes in pollen cones further support that these genes are involved in regulation of the development of the pollen bearing organs (Sundström et al., 1999). Similarly, in Pinus

radiata, an ortholog of angiosperm B function genes, *PrDGL*, is expressed only in male cones (pollen strobili, Mouradov et al., 1999). Thus, it seems that the regulatory systems behind the development of reproductive organs of the angiosperms and the gymnosperms share common components, like B and C functions. This further suggests that B and C functions belong to ancestral functions of MIKC like MADS box genes in seed plants. More importantly, these results suggest that gene duplication gave rise to separate B and C functions in the seed plant lineage and thus was the major determinant in the transition from homospory to heterospory. The duplication and specialisation of an ancestral sporophyl identity gene into a general sporophyl gene (a C function gene) and a microsporophyll modifier gene (a B function gene) are major determinants of the development of heterospory at the evolutionary base of seed plants (Baum, 1998).

PETALS: EVOLUTION AND ORGANO-GENESIS

The origin of petals

The classical view, which is also supported by the ABC model, suggests that flower organs have their closest relatives in their adjacent flower organs. In other words, the proximal whorls are each others' closest relatives (Albert et al., 1997). Based on morphological studies, petals are hypothesized to have arisen independently several times from stamens (andropetals) or from bracts (bracteopetals) in different angiosperm lineages (Takhtajan 1991). For example morphological evidence suggests that andropetaloidy has taken place several times within the lower eudicots and most basal angiosperms, such as Magnolides and Piperales, are assumed to have bracteopetals (Kramer et al., 1998; Theißen et al., 2000). However, as pointed out by Albert et al. (1997), these simple views have severe problems: for example the term "sepal" in many Magnoliales and Laurales, where floral organs

may have spiral cycles, cannot be clearly defined. Similarly, organs in the petal whorl may have structural and developmental features which are usually thought to be sepaloid. Organ terminology which is principally based on process orthology/ paralogy would always distinguish petals (AB) from sepals (A) and stamens (BC) regardless of historical or positional orthology/paralogy (Albert et al., 1997). Process orthology / paralogy here means that different structures are specified by the same type of genes (Theißen et al., 2000). Therefore study on B and C function genes which are involved in determining the organ identity in higher eudicots, should be carried in more basal groups to reveal the origin of petal. Based on the available data, two models can be drawn. The first model suggests that the ancestral condition was a single, petaloid whorl which expressed both A and B function genes and calyx whorl (sepals) was added externally (Albert et al., 1997). The second model predicts that an ancestral flower had sepaloid perianth whorl(s) and the distinction between calyx and corolla (petals) could have evolved later by the outward extension of B function into the inner whorl (whorl 2) of the perianth (Baum, 1998).

As presented above, the development of carpels and stamens was regulated by B and C function genes and most likely they contributed directly to the evolution of heterospory during seed plant development. Historically, an ancient C function gene was a general sporophyl gene and the function of an ancient B gene was to specify the microsporophyll. Quite recently, characterization of B group genes from different monocot species and basal angiosperms suggest that early expression of B group genes in petals is conserved in all angiosperms. For example if SILKY1, a AP3 homolog from a monocot Zea mays, is mutated, lodicules (interpreted as being homologous to petals) were changed into palea like organs (one of outer sepal like organs in whorl one) and stamens into carpels (Schmidt and Ambrose, 1998). Kramer and Irish (1999) showed that in four Ranunculidae species (basal eudicots) both *AP3/DE*F and *PI/GLO* homologs were present and expressed in the youngest petal and stamen primordia. Thus, if the B genes first evolved to contribute to the evolution of heterospory, together with C genes, in the early developmental phases of the seed plants, they could be recruited to contribute to petal development, without C function, near the base of angiosperms. A key ancestral gene duplication occurred near the base the angiosperms which resulted in the distinct lineages of *AP3/DEF* and *PI/GLO* like genes (Kramer et al., 1998).

According to the ABC model petal identity is determined by the coaction of A and B functions. However, outside Arabidopsis, it seems plausible that A function may be provided by different genes or may not even exist in other species. From studies in Arabidopsis, it is also evident that the A function genes are needed for the determination of floral meristem identity. Determining flower meristem identity and thus, the separation of flower development from vegetative development is probably an evolutionarily older process than determining the identity of perianth organs in the flower. Therefore, it has been suggested that, at least in some cases, the A function is derived from the floral meristem identity function (Theißen et al., 2000). Supporting evidence comes from the finding that some orthologs of Arabidopsis AP1 in different species are also expressed in other flower organs and in other parts of plants than just the sepals and petals (Huijser et al, 1992, work I). Thus, as a conclusion it is tempting to suggest that main part of the A function is to prevent the C function to proceed to whorl 2, and as presented above, several genes acting redundantly take care of the repression (in Arabidopsis). This in turn is needed in determining petal identity which has been derived from the stamen during evolution.

Petals, a simple model of organogenesis

In general, petals may function in three ways: attracting and assisting (i.e. providing a landing place) animal pollinators, protecting inner reproductive whorls and in some cases secreting nectars. Every different flower organ is determined by discrete molecular developmental programs, i.e. modules. As described above, these modules share common components, and thus it is useful to compare similarities and differences between petals and its neighbouring flower organs among eudicot species

The main function of sepals is to protect the inner flower parts during the early stages of flower ontogeny. In many cases the protective role is later overtaken by the larger petals but in other cases sepals may continue enlargement and later aid seed dispersal. The stamens in whorl three are the male reproductive organs of a flower and they contain the anther in which pollen is produced. Among eudicots, the initiation of all petals happens simultaneously. The same holds true with stamens but sepals have more obvious spiral phyllotaxis and are not initiated exactly simultaneously. Both petals and stamens have rapid differential growth just before anthesis (like the opening of the flower) but growth of sepals usually ceases at the early stages of their development (Albert et al., 1997; Endress, 1994). The simple anatomy of petals more resembles that of stamens than sepals. Vascular systems of both petals and stamens lack schlerencymatous cells and their vascular patterning is usually derived from the single basal trace. In contrast, sepals often have schlerencymatous cells in their vascular systems and their patterning is usually derived from three basal traces. Besides, the simple parenchyma of petals differs from that of sepals which often contains palisade parencyma layers like leaves (Albert et al., 1997). This observation is in line with the conclusion presented the previous chapter, which was based on molecular evolution studies on MADS box genes.

The simple structure of the petal and its structural and developmental similarity to the reproductive organs, make them an attractive choice for studying organogenesis. In addition, compared with vegetative organs the shapes and sizes of petals (as representative of a floral organ) are highly invariable, which is most likely due to constraints applied by plant-pollinator relationships. This regularity is advantageous for studying the basis of organogenesis in plants using genetic and molecular approaches.

FLOWER DEVELOPMENT IN ASTERACEAE

The condensed inflorescence, capitulum, is characteristic to the plant family Asteraceae (Compositae). Typically the flower organs are highly specialized and the capitulum itself is highly adapted to insect mediated pollination. The capitulum is considered to be a condensed raceme composed of typically tens or hundreds of flowers which may vary in sexuality, morphology, symmetry, anthocyanin pigmentation or organ fusion (Baaqoe, 1977; Bremer, 1994; Figure 3). So many parameters varying in a single genotype, Asteraceae is a choice beyond compare to study the molecular and genetic regulation of the developmental processes mentioned above. For example, based on analysis of certain Microseris mutants Bachmann (1991) characterized flower type specific traits and concluded that chemical gradients of morphogens lead to expression of different flower types. Another example of regulation of capitulum organization comes from studies of Palmer (1994) in which he was able to show that the phytohormone cytokinin participates in the control of flower position. Hernandez and Green (1994), in turn, have shown, by applying lateral constrains, the importance of biophysical factors in determining organization of the capitulum. All these studies show that the position of an individual flower within the capitulum is an important factor in determining its developmental fate. This indicates that signals directing the capitulum development participate in determining the fate of individual flowers.

introduction

Studies on the regulation of anthocyanin biosynthesis genes in gerbera have clarified the molecular mechanisms of gene regulation at different anatomical levels in the capitulum: between different flower types, between different flower organs and within a flower organ. Regulation of the expression of GDFR1, a representative of the late part of anthocyanin biosynthetic genes, senses all the different anatomical levels and the analyses of its promoter activity revealed that the spatial anthocyanin patterns are due to regulatory factors upstream of the promoter (Helariutta et al., 1995; Elomaa et al., 1998). Both anthocyanin pigmentation patterns and gene product accumulation patterns in various regions of the gerbera ray flower petal indicate region specific control of gene expression along the longitudinal axis of the petal. Studies on the anthocyanin biosynthetic genes and their regulation have shown that they form a homogenous group which is expressed in a basipetal manner during the growth of ray flower petals (Helariutta et al., 1993).



Figure 3. Different flower types of gerbera with specialized floral organs.

aims

AIMS OF THE STUDY

Generally, the aim of the present study was to understand molecular development of gerbera flower by using two different approaches. (1) Using MADS box genes as tools to investigate the molecular determination of flower in gerbera. (2) To uncover what sorts of gene regulation strategies and gene groups are typical to late organogenesis of ray floret petal.

One approach used here is to study whether the ABC model is valid in determining the flower organ identity also in gerbera, and then taking advantage of the B and C function MADS box genes to use them as instruments to examine reproduction adaptations common to Asteraceae. The main method is to use transgenic gerbera plants either overexpressing or down regulating these genes (study I).

The same transgenic technic is used in the second approach in which is studied the role of the *GRCD1* gene, a member of the *AGL2* clade of MADS box genes, during gerbera flower development (study II). In model species, the precise functions of the members of *AGL2* clade have largely been obscure and by taking advantage the new experimental system provided by gerbera, we have been able to characterize the role of *GRCD1* in gerbera flower development, which could be applicable to other species as well.

In third approach we performed three different differential screening strategies to uncover what kind of, spatial or temporal, gene regulation strategies are typical to petal organogenesis in gerbera. In addition, we attempted to characterize what sort of gene groups are typical to late organogenesis of petals and study functions of selected genes (studies III and IV).

Specifically, in this work we have tried to answer the following questions.

(A) Is the ABC model of flower organ development ablicable to gerbera? StudyI

- (B) Can we define A, B and C functions and find corresponding genes in gerbera? If yes, then can we use these genes as instruments to study flower characteristics that are typical to gerbera and the plant family Asteraceae? Study I
- (C) Are the B and C function genes involved in feminisation of marginal ray flowers and does the abortion of stamens depend on organ identity or position? Study I
- (D) What is the origin of pappus bristles, which are positionally orthologous to the whorl 1 organ? Study I
- (E) Which developmental processes does *GRCD1* participate in? Study II
- (F) Which developmental processes does *GEG* participate in? Study IV

materials and methods

MATERIALS AND METHODS

PLANT MATERIAL

The object in this study is *Gerbera hybrida* (2n=50-52), which is an artificial hybrid between *G. jamesonii* and *G. viridifolia*, two South African gerbera species which were crossed in the 19^{th} century. Traditional breeding has resulted in several gerbera varieties which show differences for example in anthocyanin pigmentation patterns and in relative sizes of floral organs. The variety used in all studies is Terra regina and it was obtained from Terra Nigra BV (De Kwakel, Holland). The developmental stages of the infloresecence are described in Helariutta et al., 1993.

METHODS

Technique	used and described in
Isolation of Plant DNA and (RNA)	I, II, (III), IV
Construction of the cDNA library	I, II, (III), IV
Screening of the cDNA library	(I), II, (III), IV
(PCR cloning	I, II, IV)
(DNA sequencing	I, II, III, IV)
DNA and RNA gel blot analysis	I, II, III, IV
In situ hybridization	I, II, III, IV
(Plant transformation	I, II, IV)
Scanning electron microscopy	I, II, IV
(Phylogenetic analysis	I, II)
(Yeast two-hybrid analysis	II)
Organ and cell measurements and statistical analysis	IV

Methods which I have not used myself are braketed.

RESULTS

DEFINING THE ROLES OF B AND C FUNCTION MADS BOX GENES IN GERBERA

Six MADS box genes were isolated using several different screening strategies which were performed in order to isolate gerbera orthologs of A, B and C function MADS box genes. GSQUA1, GDEF1, GAGA1 and GAGA2 were isolated in low a stringency screen of a cDNA library made of young inflorescences with DAL2, a MADS box gene isolated from Picea abies (Tandre et al., 1995). GDEF2, and GGL01 were isolated from high stringency screens of petal and young inflorescence cDNA libraries, respectively, using previously amplified PCR fragments of their MADS box region (see study I). Expression (using in situ and RNA blots) and phylogenetic analysis (on combined nucleotide sequences of MADS and K boxes) were performed to determine which of these genes are potentially A, B or C function genes.

Phylogenetic analysis groups GSQUA1 among potential A function genes (study I, Figure 2), but the expression profile of GSQUA1 in flower differs from that of the known A function genes (whorls one and two). Its expression is detected both in the receptacle and in the developing flower bud and it resembles a continuous flow from the basis of the receptacle, through margins of the ovule, to the developing petals (work I, Figure 3 panels i and j). The pattern does not resemble that of a typical A function gene, it rather follows developing vascular system. The expression pattern of GSQUA1 already suggests that it is not a typical A function gene. Also the expression pattern of another ABC MADS box gene differs that of the typical ABC genes. During flower development GDEF1 is expressed at very low levels and only a faint signal is seen in the margins of corolla and stamen primordia (data not shown). In phylogenetic analysis it can be unambiguosly placed in the DEF group, but

inside the DEF clade its position is either unresolved or it groups with *TM6*, a *DEF* like gene from tomato with unknown function (study I, Figure 2 or data not shown). Supporting evidence for a connection between *GDEF1* and *TM6* like genes comes from the finding of the paleo*AP3*motif in the C terminus of *GDEF1* which is typical of the *TM6* lineage (Kramer et al., 1998, data not shown).

Both phylogenetic and expression analyses are in line with the conclusion that GDEF2 and GGLO1 are B function genes in gerbera. They are expressed in whorls two and three during flower development; in addition, expression of GDEF2 can be detected in developing ovary, and also in several other tissues. In a phylogenetic tree the closest orthologs of GGLO1 and GDEF2 are known B function genes from the GLO and DEF groups, respectively. Similarly, GAGA1 and GAGA2 have typical expression patterns and phylogenetic positions for C function genes. Their expression can be detected in whorls three and four and later also in the developing ovule.

From expression and phylogenetic analyses it can be predicted that GDEF2, GGLO1, GAGA1 and GAGA2, besides being historical, are also functional orthologues of B and C function genes. Transgenic plants, in which the gene of interest is either overexpressed or down regulated, reveal that GDEF2 and GGLO1 are indeed B function genes and that GAGA1 and GAGA2 are C function genes. Both overexpression and down regulation phenotypes of GGLO1 and GAGA2 have been characterized in detail in study I. Both down regulation and overexpression of GDEF2 give results similar to those obtained with GGLO1 (E. Pöllänen, unpublished results). When expression of GAGA1 is down regulated a similar, but not so prominent, identity change of whorls three and four takes place. For example, in whorl three petals develop in marginal flowers in place of staminoids, but they do not have a fused corolla ligule like in antisense GAGA2 plants. This could be due to some residual *GAGA2* expression left in transgenic plants where *GAGA1* is down regulated (M. Kotilainen, unpublished results, study I, Figure 6 panel k).

B AND C FUNCTION MADS BOX GENES AND MODIFIED PATTERNS OF FLOWER DEVELOPMENT IN GERBERA

After phylogenetic, expression and transgenic analyses of *GDEF2*, *GGLO1*, *GAGA1* and *GAGA2*, there is little doubt that these genes perform B and C functions during gerbera flower development. Based on these results, the first conclusion that the ABC model is also applicable to gerbera is evident. More importantly, these genes can be used as instruments to study gerbera flower characteristics which are typical Asteraceae specific adaptations of flowering.

Expression analysis of B and/or C orthologs in the dioecious plants sorrel and white campion suggests that the absence of these genes could play a role in the development of unisexual flowers. In both cases, expression of these genes came undetectable as soon as the inappropriate organs cease to develop (Hardenack et al., 1994; Ainsworth et al., 1995). In gerbera, at early stages the flower primordia development all flower types are indistinguishable and the differentiation between marginal ray/trans flowers and central disc florets takes place later. During an early organ differentiation stage of flower development anther development arrests in the marginal flowers resulting in abortion of stamens and thus feminisation of marginal flowers. Because spatial and temporal expression patterns of all B and C function MADS box genes are identical in all different flower types, it is obvious that these genes are not involved in the developmental processes that lead to anther abortion in marginal flowers of gerbera.

In whorl three of the marginal flowers stamens cease to develope, later they senescence and form staminodes. If the identity of whorl three organs was changed to petals by down regulating *GAGA2* expression, these organs do not show any signs of developmental arrest or senescence. Similarly, if *GAGA2* or *GGLO1* are overexpressed, the development of whorl two or four in marginal flowers, respectively, begin to wither resembling the development of staminodes in wild type (study I, Figures 5A and 6F). Taken together, the analysis of these transgenic lines gave molecular evidence that developmental arrest of whorl three organs in marginal flowers is dependent on the identity not the position of the floral organs.

In the plant family Asteraceae a leafy calyx is often missing and the whorl two organ is surrounded by either pappus bristles or small bract like leaves, or whorl one organs are missing completely. In gerbera pappus bristles develop in whorl one position. These simple organs consist of a single cell type, lacking e.g. vascular system and their function is to aid seed dispersal later in development. There has been a debate for some time about the origin of the pappi. Are they true sepals or do they originate from outside the flower being specialized inflorescence bracts? Again with the help of transgenic plants overexpressing or down regulating B or C function genes we can change the identity of flower organ of interest towards another. On the surface of chimeric organs in whorls two and four of the plants where GGLO1 and GAGA2 are down regulated, respectively, true pappus bristles emerge. According to the ABC model, the identity change should approach that of whorl one, this shows that the pappus bristles are true sepals (study I, Figure 7, panels h and j).

GRCD1 PARTICIPATES IN THE C FUNCTION

Analysis of the cDNA corresponding to *GRCD1* was performed following the same strategy as presented with the B and C function MADS box genes. Phylogenetic analysis showed that *GRCD1* belongs to the *AGL2* clade which consists of a growing number of MADS box genes isolated from

gymnosperm and angiosperm species. Interestingly, until quite recently the precise functions of these genes, which are expressed without exception during flower development, have remained obscure.

Expression of GRCD1 in gerbera flower varies spatially over the course of development suggesting that it is regulated by several different programs and thus GRCD1 has potential to participate in several modules needed for flower development. The onset of GRCD1 expression takes place simultaneously with the B and C function genes and, it can be detected in the ring primordia from which the perianth of flower originates. During the early stages of flower organ differentiation GRCD1 is expressed in all four flower whorls and in the ovule. Later its expression concentrates on whorls three (stamens), outer surface of whorl four (carpels) and outer integument of ovule (study II, Figure 2). At this stage a weaker signal can be seen in developing petals which is later concentrated in the epidermal cells on the abaxial side of the petal ligule (data not shown).

All three transgenic gerbera plants, in which GRCD1 expression was specifically down regulated, had altered whorl three identity. In marginal flowers a complete homeotic conversion had taken place; instead of staminodes developed true petals. In the central flowers the stamens remained fertile, but they had chimeric structures on their abaxial surface; stomata, which normally develop only on the abaxial surface of petals (study II, Figures 4 and 5). No other flower organs showed any differences in their development, the only exception was that in one transgenic line the shape of petals and color of abaxial side of petals was altered. This change resembled weak down regulation phenotype of B function genes (unpublished results). This phenotype spatially correlates the late expression pattern of GRCD1 in petals; GRCD1 expression was detected in epidermal cell layer of petal, especially on abaxial side (unpublished results, Helariutta et al., 1993)

Earlier, based on expression analysis of Arabidopsis AGL2, AGL4 and AGL9 genes, it has been suggested that AGL2 like genes could be upstream of the A, B and C function genes (Flanagan and Ma, 1994; Savidge et al., 1995 and Mandel and Yanofsky, 1998). However, in gerbera GRCD1 expression is not affected when either GAGA1 or GAGA2 expression is down regulated. Similarly, down regulation of GRCD1 expression does not affect the expression of GAGA1 or GAGA2 (study II, Figure 3). Because both GAGA1 and GAGA2 proteins are able to interact with a GRCD1 protein in yeast two hybrid analysis (study II, Figure 6), we propose that this pairing takes place also in planta and it is needed for C function in whorl three in gerbera.

STUDY OF ORGANOGENESIS USING PETAL ABUNDANT GENES

As stated earlier, flower organs are an excellent choice to study organogenesis because the high degree of regularity in their shape. Compared to reproductive organs, petals have a simple internal structure, though this structure resembles that of neighbouring organs. In gerbera the most prominent floral part is the ray flower bilabiate corolla. The bilabiate corolla consists of a blade-like ligule part (which in part consist of three fused petal lobes and two rudimentary ones) and a proximal tubular part, the tube (Figure 3; study IV, Figure 2).

The highly variable anthocyanin pigmentation patterns in different gerbera varieties also include differential pigmentation along the longitudinal axis of the ray flower corolla ligule. This may reflect spatially restricted gene expression patterns and gene regulation strategies in the corolla Region specific control of gene expression is further indicated by the observation of spatially restricted gene product accumulation patterns in various regions of the gerbera ray flower corolla (Y. Helariutta, personal communication). During ray flower petal development, anthocyanin biosynthetic genes form a homogenous group which is expressed in a basipetal manner (i.e. from the distal end towards the proximal end, Helariutta et al., 1993). They are expressed mainly during the growth phase of ray flower corolla when the shape of the corolla is determined by both cell division and elongation.

To reveal what sorts of gene groups and regulation strategies are needed during late corolla organogesis we performed three distinct differential screenings. The developmental stages studied were chosen so that the time window started when the rapid growth phase was still going on, but cell division had ceased, and the window ended when the size and shape of corolla was determined. The formation of anthocyanin pigmentation is a sign of well developed vacuoles which in turn tells us that cell division is ending. Two different differential screening strategies were chosen. First, we isolated and characterized genes that are expressed abundantly in ray flower corolla. A cDNA library made from corolla mRNA was differentially screened with corolla and leaf cDNA probes made from corresponding RNA pools. In a second approach, we attempted to isolate genes of which expression is spatially restricted into a specific region of the corolla. We performed two separate experiments: cDNA libraries made from proximal and distal halves of a corolla were both screened with probes made from the first strand cDNA pools of (1) the tube region of a corolla, (2) the proximal fifth of a corolla ligule and (3) the distal fifth of a corolla ligule.

Altogether 120 000 clones were screened - 20 000 between corolla and leaf; 50 000 in each "between regions within the corolla" experiment. Taken together none of the genes analysed were specific to corolla nor spatially restricted to a specific region of it. We analysed expression patterns of seven different genes in detail. All the genes were expressed at least in one other floral or vegetative organ. Interestingly, the most common group of genes was expressed abundantly in petals and carpels. In gerbera, carpel style is a highly elongated, nonphotosynthetic and in many varieties anthocyanin pigmented structure. GLTP1, GEG (studies III and IV), the unidentified genes GTY37 and GTK17, and genes studied in another context, like GDFR1 (Helariutta et al., 1993) and GMYC1 (P. Elomaa, personal communication) are expressed abundantly during petal and carpel development. In both of these organs, the spatial expression pattern of these genes is restricted to the epidermal and/or parenchymatic cell types. This may indicate that in these cell types petals and carpels share similar developmental programs in gerbera. Within ray flower corolla all seven clones analysed in this study (besides anthocyanin genes GDFR1 and GCHS1, Helariutta et al., 1993; Helariutta, 1995) have basipetal expression pattern, thus their expression start - and cease - from the distal end of the corolla. Maturation of corolla, visualized for example by anthocyanin pigmentation, has the same basipetal pattern further demonstrating the generality of this pattern. These studies suggest that many genetic programs could be regulated by a single basipetal signal gradient along the longitudinal axis of corolla and that different factors react to it at the signal concentration characteristic of their regulation.

Based on sequence and gene expression analyses we chose three genes from the differential screens for further studies; *GRCD1* (study II), *GLTP1* (study III) and *GEG* (study IV).

SPATIAL AND TEMPORAL EXPRESSION PATTERN OF A PETAL ABUNDANT GENE *GLTP1*

Because putative amino acid sequence of the most abundant clone isolated in differential screen between petals and leaves had many characteristics similar to putative nonspecific lipid transfer proteins, we named the gene *GLTP1* (a Gerbera nsLipid Transfer Protein 1) including an obvious signal sequence in the amino terminus and eight conserved cysteine

residues. The expression patterns vary among different LTPs, and they are characterized by developmental and tissue specificity with distinct expression patterns for different genes (Kader, 1997). Many LTP genes are expressed in the epidermis, examples of these are tobacco LTP1 and maize LTP. LTP proteins, like Arabidopsis LTP and carrot EP2, have also been reported to accumulate mainly in the epidermal cell layers (Sossountzov et al., 1991; Sterk et al., 1991; Fleming et al., 1992; Thoma et al., 1993). In many cases, LTP genes are expressed at early stages of development of the organ in question, like tapetum specific LTPs in tobacco and carrot EP2 are expressed primarily in young developing inflorescences (Koltunow et al., 1990 and Sterk et al., 1991). The expression pattern of GLTP1 is unique among nsLTPs. It is specific to petals and carpels, and it can be detected both in epidermal and parenchymatic tissues of these organs. Moreover GLPT1 expression takes place temporally in relatively late stages of petal and carpel development.

So far there is no direct evidence what the function of plant nsLTPs is. Based on localization and in vitro experimental studies several roles for nsLTPs have been proposed, including participation in cutin biosynthesis, adhesion, adaptation to various stresses, anti microbial activity etc. (Kader, 1997, Park et al., 2000). In gerbera, the petals are covered with thick cuticula, which is supposed to add surface sheen and color, in addition to aiding water economy and resistance to disease. Thus we hypothesized that GLTP1 could play a role in cuticle formation. To study the role of GLTP1 in petal development we created transgenic plants in which GLTP1 expression was down regulated. Two transgenic lines in which GLTP1 expression were largely down regulated was obtained. In visual or scanning electron microscopy studies we could not detect any phenotypic change in petal structures (unpublished results).

GEG, A *GAST1* LIKE GENE, AND LATE ORGANOGENESIS OF THE GERBERA PETAL

GEG was chosen for further studies based on its expression pattern: in the first screen of the proximal ray flower corolla cDNA library, it seemed to be expressed more strongly in the proximal part of corolla than in the distal. More detailed analysis revealed an intriguing expression pattern for GEG during corolla maturation: just before the opening and unfolding of ray flower corolla GEG expression occurs almost simultaneously from both ends of the corolla. The very first signal is seen in the proximal part of corolla, in the region which joins the tube and the ligule and just after that GEG expression is detected in the distal end of corolla ligule. During opening of ray flower corolla, the proximal expression proceeds basipetally into the tube and acropetally into the ligule. The distal expression proceeds basipetally into middle of ligule, where both expression patterns meet just as the ray flower corolla has opened (study IV, Figure 2). GEG expression continues at a high level in the entire corolla until it senescences. Detailed biometric analysis of corolla growth revealed that before its opening, the corolla expands both longitudinally and laterally and soon after opening, growth ceases in both directions. Thus, GEG expression temporally coincides with cessation of corolla growth. At the cellular level, GEG expression coincides tightly with cessation of the growth of ligule epidermal cells, but only in the longitudinal direction (study IV, Figure 5). Another part of the flower in which GEG is expressed at high levels is the stigma+style part of the carpel. Similar to the corolla, correlation between GEG expression and cessation of longitudinal growth, both at organ and cellular level was detected, but in the lateral direction of epidermal cells of carpels do not expand during the elongation period or later (study IV, Figure 4). Thus, *GEG* expression tightly correlates with completion of organ and cell elongation in the longitudinal direction in both corollas and carpels.

In an attempt to go beyond correlation, towards causality in revealing the function of GEG, we generated transgenic gerbera plants in which GEG is constitutively expressed. The overexpression phenotypes of corolla and carpel, both at organ and cellular level, were in harmony with correlation data: the organs and the epidermal cells were shorter when GEG is constitutively expressed compared to control plants. Interestingly, in carpels, besides being shorter, the epidermal cells of the style were also wider. Because any increase in style width is not observed during endogenous GEG expression, the radial growth of these cells may be a secondary effect. In conclusion, the primary role of GEG is to inhibit cell expansion in the longitudinal direction and to participate in the regulation of corolla and carpel shape.

Sequence analysis revealed that GEG shares a high similarity to previously characterised gibberellic acid inducible genes, members of a GAST1 gene family, the functions of which have remained obscure. Members like, GAST1 and RSI1 of tomato, GASA gene family of Arabidopsis, GIP1 of petunia, have an expression that is regulated by phytohormones like GA or auxin (Shi et al., 1992; Taylor and Scheuring, 1994; Herzog et al., 1995; Ben-Nissan and Weiss, 1996). Similarly to most of the GAST1 gene family members, the expression of GEG is also stimulated by GA. Application of GA₂ upregulated GEG expression in detached ray flower corollas (study IV, Figure 12). The amino acid sequences encoded by all GAST1 gene family members share similar characters. A signal peptide in the N terminus, a variable region varying in length and hydrophobicity in the middle and a highly conserved C terminal end: of these 60 amino acids, 22 are identical and 12 of these are cysteines.

discussion

DISCUSSION

All the four studies forming this thesis are discussed in the relevant scientific context in detail in the corresponding published articles. Therefore only a synopsis and selected conclusions are presented in this chapter.

POWER OF MADS GENES

In the early 90's the molecular determination mechanisms of different flower organs were characterized and the ABC model which was based on Arabidopsis and Antirrhinum mutants was created. In the beginning the communal wisdom was that the simple ABC model could be extrapolated to other angiosperms species. Therefore it became necessary for people interested in molecular development in Asteraceae, to study if the Model holds true in one of the largest and thus one of the most successful angiosperm families. As presented above, generally speaking the ABC model is applicable to gerbera and the determination of different floral organs can be explained by the identified B and C function genes. Besides an important enlargement of the ABC system, study of its components in different flowering plants enables better understanding of molecular and genetical mechanisms of plant development. An example of difficulties encountered when a simple model is taken too literally, is the early finding of an AGAMOUS homodimer and conclusion that it is sufficient for C function in Arabidopsis - and in other plant species as well. AGAMOUS homodimerization takes place only if an N terminal peptide before the MADS domain is removed, but such a proteolytic cleavage was never shown in planta. Later information from yeast two hybrid and in vitro experiments show that proteins encoded by AGL2-like and C class MADS genes of Antirrhinum, tomato, gerbera and Arabidopsis infact can make heterodimers. Recent functional studies of SEP1-3 genes of Arabidopsis and GRCD1 of gerbera complement the picture of C function showing that other (MADS box) genes are needed as well (Pelaz et al., 2000; study II). Involvement of other genes in the C function adds a new dimension to it enabling better understanding different aspects of the C function; for example in dissecting its different subfunctions.

As stated in the introduction, transcription factors are most likely key switches of development and the main driving force for evolution. What is the minimal set of flower organ determining transcription factors that guide the development of a group of competent cells to become a flower, i.e. sufficient to induce an ectopic flower? In the light of present data, it is tempting to suggest that the members of A, B, C and AGL2 clades of MADS box genes, which are common to angiosperms and gymnosperms, are enough.

POWER OF A SIMPLE MODEL

As stated above, the advantage of studying petals is clear compared to vegetative organs or to other floral organs. Organogenesis in vegetative organs, such as in leaves is more variable in the sense that environmental factors have more effect on the determination of their final shape and size. The development of reproductive flower organs is determined by genetic programs, but because of their function, they have more complex structures and developmental programs as compared to petals. From the evolution perspective, petals resemble the neighbouring floral organs and are most likely in many cases derived from stamens, thus they also provide a good model for studying floral organogenesis.

One major general result from the differential screening between different spatial regions within ray floret corollas is that all the characterized genes, representing different developmental programs, modules, could be regulated by a single basipetal gradiental signal. Factors determining different developmental modules during petal maturation, could react to different concentrations of single signalling molecule. Thus a single signal could be behind the regulation of late morphogenesis petal in determining its shape and size.

The functions of lipid transfer proteins have remained obscure, but a quite recent interesting finding is that a LTP is involved in the lily pollen tube adhesion in in vitro bioassay (Park et al., 2000). The lily LTP is one of two stylar components that are necessary for adhesion and together they induced adhesion of pollen tubes to an artificial stylar matrix in vitro. Park et al. (2000) speculated that lily LTP could act as an adhesive agent between the pollen tube wall and a larger molecule in the stylar transmitting tract epidermis by acting directly in adhesion process or acting as a carrier of lipophilic compounds that, in turn, act as adhesion molecules. If the latter is true, bearing in mind the developmental context in which GLTP1 is expressed, it is tempting to speculate that one possible role of GLTP1 development is to participate in directing and carrying lipophilic cell wall components during the growth of the ray flower corollas and carpels.

GEG participates in the regulation of cell and organ shape most likely by inhibiting cell elongation in the axial direction during late morphogenesis of corollas and carpels in gerbera. But in what cellular processes is GEG participating, in other words what cell biological role does GEG have? In light of the present data, three different hypotheses can be made: First, it could interfere with vesicle trafficking needed for example for cell wall synthesis/maintenance and thus guide the direction of organ growth. Second, it could act as an adhesion molecule between the cell membrane and cell wall or thirdly, be a cell wall component which, for example, by adhering to other molecules, preventing the sliding of cell wall matrix components, thus inhibiting cell elongation.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was carried out at the Institute of Biotechnology, which has simultaneously changed from a cosy community to a centre of excellence. I am grateful to Mart Saarma, Head of the Institute for his consistently encouraging attitude towards my work and for providing such a competent working environment.

I want to thank my supervisor Teemu Teeri for logically supporting this work through all these years and for his sincere and open attitude to do science. Long live the crayfish party! I also want to thank other, former and present, members of The Gerbera Group. The friendship with the vintage –65 of the group: Eija Takala, Paula Elomaa and Ykä Helariutta have offered unforgettable moments both during and after working hours. I am looking forward the 2005 show. The sisu of Eija Pöllänen and Devue Yu made the analysis of transgenic MAD(S) gerberas possible and conclusions would have not been there without the kåre-trees and solid ideas of Victor Albert. The decisiveness of Merja Mehto and Anne Uimari, typical to ladies who come from eastern Finland, made possible the isolation of GEG and GLTP1 promoters and the GRCD1 yeast two hybrid analyses, respectively. Tiina Harjunpää, Marja Huovila, Jaana Hämäläinen, Satu Koskela, Sanna Koutaniemi, Katja Mattsson, Leena Nevalainen, Anu Rokkanen, Sanna Peltola and Satu Ruokolainen are thanked for their contribution to the atmosphere in the gerbera group and to the gerbera research.

I am grateful to all members of FOC. Former and present neighbours in the plant lab: members of Helariutta-group, Mäkinen-group, Schulman-group (and others with loose identity) are thanked for their good company and cooperation.

I wish to thank several people outside our laboratory. Former and present Kemira Agro employees: Timo Törmälä, Pauli Seppänen, Jarmo Honkanen, Reetta Puska, Anne Aaltonen and Eija Saarikko, and Jaap Molenaar in Terra Nigra BV, de Kwakel provided me essential support and knowledge in gerberology. Jyrki Juhanoja, Eila Kujamäki, Päivi Laamanen, Lars Paulin are acknowledged for their technical assistance.

Pia Runeberg-Roos and Tuomas Sopanen are thanked for careful reading of the manuscript and for their constructive comments. The.

I thank my friends outside of the science, expecially Pikku-Mika and Pirates from the Southern Seas. Activity organized by them may have influenced on the progress of this study.

I want to express my warmest thanks to my parents, Anja and Martti, for a continuous support also during this work. I am gratefull to my sister Hanna and Nunnu's family for their willing to help, especially in child care. Most of all I want to thank my wife Nunnu for her love and for setting me an example of the right direction. This work is dedicated to our children, Tuuli and Leevi.

Helsinki, December 13, 2000

REFERENCES

Ainsworth, C., Crossley, S., Buchanan-Wollaston, V., Thangavelu, M. and Parker, J. (1995). Male and female flowers of the dioecious plant sorrel show different patterns of MADS box gene expression. Plant Cell 7, 1583-1598.

Albert, V.A., Gustaffson, M.H.G. and Di Laurenzio, L. (1998). Ontogenic systematics, molecular developmental genetics and the angiosperm flower. In Molecular systematics of plants II. Soltis, P., Soltis, D. and Doyle, J.J. (Eds.) (New York, Chapmann and Hall)

Alvarez, J. and Smyth, D.R. (1999). *CRABS CLAW* and *SPATULA*, two genes from Arabidopsis that control carpel and development in parallel with *AGAMOUS*. Development **126**, 2377-2386.

Alvarez-Buylla, E.R., Pelaz, S., Liljegren, S.J., Gold, S.G., Burgeff, C., Ditta, G.S., de Pouplana, L.R., Martínez-Castilla, L. and Yanofsky, M.F. (2000). An ancestral MADS-box gene duplication occurred before the divergence of plants and animals Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **97**, 5328-5333.

Baagøe J. (1977). Microcharacters in the ligules of the compositae. In: Heywood VH, Harborne JB, Turner BL (eds) The Biology and Chemistry of the Compositae, pp. 119-139. (London, Academic Press).

Bachmann, K. (1991). Genetic variation for meristic characters of the capitula of *Microseris pygmaea* (Asteraceae: Lactuceae). Biol. Zentralbl **110**, 145-156.

Baum, D.A. (1998). The evolution of plant development. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. **1**, 79-86.

Ben-Nissan, G. and Weiss D. (1996). The petunia homologue of tomato *GAST1*: transcript accumulation coincides with gibberellin-induced corolla cell elongation. Plant Mol. Biol. **32**, 1067-1074.

Bowman, J. L. and Smyth, D. R. (1999). *CRABS CLAW*, a gene that regulates carpel and nectary development in Arabidopsis, encodes a novel protein with zinc finger and helix-loop-helix domains. Development **126**, 2387-2396.

Bradley, D., Carpenter, R., Sommer, H., Hartley, N. and Coen, E. (1993) Complementary floral homeotic phenotypes result from opposite orientation of a transposon at the *PLENA* locus of Antirrhinum. Cell, **72**, 85-95.

Bremer, K. (1994). Asteraceae: cladistics and classification. (Oregon, Portland: Timber Press).

Busch, M.A., Bomblies, K., Weigel D. (1999). Activation of a floral homeotic gene in Arabidopsis.Science **285**, 585-587.

Byzova, M.V., Franken, J., Aarts, M.G.M., de Almeida-Engler, J., Engler, G., Mariani, C., Van Lookeren Campagne, M.M. and Angenent, G.C. (1999). Arabidopsis *STERILE APETALA*, a multifunctional gene regulating inflorescence, flower, and ovule development. Genes & Dev. **13**, 1002-1014.

Chen, J.J., Janssen, B.J., Williams, A. and Sinha, N. (1997). A gene fusion at a homeobox locus: Alterations in leaf shape and implications for morphological evolution. Plant Cell **9**, 1289-1304.

Coe, E.H., McCormick, S. and Modena, S.A. (1981). White pollen in maize. J. Hered. **72**, 318-320.

Cubas, P., Lauter, N., Doubley, J. and Coen E. (1999). The TCP domain: a motif found in proteins regulating plant growth and development. Plant J. **18**, 215-222.

Drews, G.N., Bowman, J.L. and Meyerowitz, E.M. (1991). Negative regulation of the Arabidopsis homeotic gene *AGAMOUS* by *APETALA2* product. Cell **65**, 991-1002.

Doubley, J. and Lukens, L. (1998). Transcriptional regulators and the evolution of plant form. Plant Cell **10**, 1075-1082.

Elomaa, P., Mehto, M., Kotilainen, M., Helariutta, Y., Nevalainen, L., Teeri, T.H. (1998). A bHLH transcription factor mediates organ, region and flower type specific signals on dihydroflavonol-4-reductase (*dfr*) gene expression in the inflorescence of *Gerbera hybrida* (Asteraceae). Plant J. **16**, 93-99.

Endress, P.K. (1994) Diversity and evolutionary biology of tropical flowers. (Cambridge, Cambridge University Press).

Flanagan, C.A. and Ma, H. (1994). Spatially and temporally regulated expression of the MADS box gene *AGL2* in wild-type and mutant Arabidopsis flowers. Plant Mol. Biol. **26**, 581-595.

Fleming, A.J., Mandel, T., Hofmann, S., de Vries, S.C. and Kuhlemeier, C. (1992). Expression pattern of a tobacco lipid transfer protein gene within the shoot apex. Plant Journal 2, 855-862.

Goodrich, J., Carpenter, R. and Coen E. (1992). A common gene regulates pigmentation pattern in diverse plant species. Cell **68**, 955-964.

Goodrich, J., Puangsomlee, P., Martin, M., Long, D., Meyerowitz, E.M. and Coupland, G. (1997). A polycomb-group gene regulates homeotic gene expression in Arabidopsis. Nature **386**, 44-51.

Goto, K. and Meyerowitz, E.M. (1994) Function and regulation of the Arabidopsis floral homeotic gene *PISTILLATA*. Genes Devel. **8**, 1548-1560.

Hanson, M., Gaut, B., Stec, A., Fuerstenberg, S., Goodman, M., Coe, E. and Doebley, J. (1996). Evolution of anthocyanin biosynthesis in maize kernels: The role of regulatory and enzymatic loci. Genetics **143**, 1395-1407. Harborne, J.B. and Grayer, R.J. (1986). Flavonoids and insects. In Harborne, J.B. (ed), The Flavonoids: Advances in research since 1986. pp. 589-618. (London, Chapman and Hall Ltd).

Hardenack, S., Ye, D., Saedler, H. and Grant S. (1994). Comparison of MADS box gene expression in developing male and female flowers of the dioecious plant white campion. Plant Cell 6, 1775-1787.

Helariutta, Y., Elomaa, P., Kotilainen, M., Seppänen, P. and Teeri, T. H. (1993). Cloning of cDNA coding for dihydroflavonol-4reductase (DFR) and characterization of *dfr* expression in the corollas of *Gerbera hybrida* var. Regina (Compositae). Plant Mol. Biol. 22, 183-193.

Helariutta, Y., Kotilainen, M., Elomaa, P. and Teeri, T.H. (1995). *Gerbera hybrida* (Asteraceae) imposes regulation at several anatomical levels during inflorescence development on the gene for dihydroflavonol-4-reductase. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 28, 935-941.

Hernandez, L.F. and Green, P.B. (1993). Transductions for the expression of structural pattern: analysis of sunflower. Plant Cell 5, 1725-1738.

Herzog, M., Dorne, A.-M. and Grellet, F. (1995). GASA, a gibberellin-regulated gene family from *Arabidopsis thaliana* related to the tomato *GAST1* gene. Plant Mol. Biol. **27**, 743-752.

Huijser, P., Klein, J., Lönnig, W.-E., Meijer, H., Saedler, H. and Sommer, H. (1992). Bracteomania, an inflorescence anomaly, is caused by the loss of function of the MADSbox gene *SQUAMOSA* in *Antirrhinum majus*. EMBO J. **11**, 1239-1249.

Jack, T., Brockman, L.L. and Meyerowitz, E.M. (1992) The homeotic gene *APETALA3* of *Arabidopsis thaliana* encodes a MADS box and is expressed in petals and stamens. Cell, 68, 683-697. Kader, J.-C. (1997). Lipid-transfer proteins: A puzzling family of plant proteins. Trends Plant Sci. 2, 66-70.

Kerstetter, R.A., Laurencia-Chingcuanco, D., Smith, L.G. and Hake, S. (1997). Loss-offunctio mutations in the maize homeobox gene, *knotted*, are defective in shoot meristem maintenance. Development **124**, 3045-3054.

Kirchhamer, C., Yuh, C. and Davidson, E. (1996). Modular cis-regulatory organization of developmentally expressed genes: Two genes transcribed territorially in the sea urchin embryo, and additional examples. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **93**, 9322-9328.

Koltunow, A.M., Truettner, J., Cox, K.H., Wallroth, M. and Goldberg, R.B. (1990). Different temporal and spatial gene expression patterns occur during anther development. Plant Cell **2**, 1201-1224.

Kramer, E.M., Dorit, R.L. and Irish, V.F. (1998). Molecular Evolution of Genes Controlling Petal and Stamen Development: Duplication and Divergence Within the *APETALA3* and *PISTILLATA* MADS-Box Gene Lineages. Genetics **149**, 765-783.

Kramer, E.M. and Irish, V.F. (1999). Evolution of genetic mechanisms controlling petal development. Nature **399**, 144-148.

Krizek, B.A., Prost, V. and Macias, A. (2000). *ANINTEGUMENTA* promotes petal identity and acts as a negative regulator of *AGAMOUS*. Plant Cell **12**, 1357-1366.

Lee, I., Wolfe, D.S., Nilsson, O. and Weigel, D. (1997). A LEAFY co-regulator encoded by UNUSUAL FLORAL ORGANS. Curr. Biol. 7, 95-104.

Lee, Y.-H. and Chun, J.-Y. (1998). A new homeodomain-leucine zipper gene from *Arabidopsis thaliana* induced by water stress and abscisic acid treatment. Plant Mol. Biol. **37**, 377-384.

Lee, M.M. and Schiefelbein, J. (1999). WEREWOLF, a MYB-related protein in Arabidopsis is position-dependent regulator of epidermal cell patterning. Cell **99**, 473-483.

Li, C.-W., Chen, J.-Y. and Hua, T.-E. (1999). Precambrian sponges with cellular structures. Science **279**, 879-882.

Liu, Z. and Meyerowitz, E.M. (1995). *LEUNIG* regulates *AGAMOUS* expression in Arabidopsis flowers. Development **121**, 975-991.

Long, J.A., Moan, E.I., Medford, J.I. and Barton, M.K. (1996). A member of the Knotted class of homeodomain proteins encoded by the *STM* gene of Arabidopsis. Nature **379**, 66-69.

Lu, P., Porat, R., Nadeau, J.A. and O'Neill, S.D. (1996). Identification of a meristem L1 layer-specific gene in Arabidopsis that is expressed during embryonic pattern formation and defines a new class of homeobox genes. Plant Cell 8, 2155-2168.

Ludwig, S.R. and Wessler, S.R. (1990). Maize R gene family: tissue specific helix-loop-helix proteins. Cell **62**, 849-851.

Luo, D.R., Carpenter, C., Vincent, L., Copsey and Coen, E. (1996). Origin of floral asymmetry in Antirrhinum. Nature **383**, 794-799.

Luo, D., Carpenter, R., Copsey, L., Vincent, C., Clark, J. and Coen, E. (1999). Control of organ asymmetry in flowers of Antirrhinum. Cell **99**, 367-376.

Maes, T., Van de Steene, N., van Montagu, M., and Gerats, T. (1998). The *AP2*-like genes of *Petunia hybrida*. Flowering Newsl. **25**, 35-40.

Mandel, M.A., Gustafson-Brown, C., Savidge, B. and Yanofsky, M.F. (1992) Molecular characterization of the Arabidopsis floral homeotic gene *APETALA1*. Nature, **360**, 273-277.

Mandel, M.A. and Yanofsky, M.F. (1998). The Arabidopsis *AGL9* MADS box gene is expressed in young flower primordia. Sex. Plant Reprod. **11**, 22-28.

Martin, W.F. (1996). Is something wrong with the tree of life? BioEssays 18, 523-527.

Mouradov, A., Hamdorf, B., Teasdale, R.D., Kim, J.T., Winter, K.U. and Theißen, G. (1999). A DEF/GLO-like MADS-box gene from a gymnosperm: *Pinus radiata* contains an ortholog of angiosperm B class floral homeotic genes. Dev. Genet. 25,245-252.

Mushegian, A.R. and Koonin, E.V. (1996). Sequence analysis of eucaryotic developmental proteins: ancient and novel domains. Genetics **144**, 816-828.

Münster, T.T., Pahke, J., Di Rosa, A., Kim, J.T., Martin, W., Saedler, H. and Theißen, G. (1997). Floral homeotic genes were recruited from homologous MADS-box genes preexisting in the common ancestor of ferns and seed plants. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 94, 2415-2420.

Okamuro, J.K. den Boer, B.G.W., Lotys-Prass, C., Szeto, W. and Jokufu, K.D. (1996). Flowers into shoots: Photo and hormonal control of a meristem identity switch in Arabidopsis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 93, 13831-13836.

Palmer, J.H. (1994). Floret initiation and production in the sunflower. Book of abstracts, International Compositae Conference, Royal Botanical Gardens, Kew.

Parcy, F., Nilsson, O., Busch, M.A., Lee, I. and Weigel, D. (1998). A genetic framework for floral patterning. Nature **395**, 561-566.

Park, S:-Y., Jauh, G.-Y., Mollet, J.-C., Eckard, K.J., Nothnagel, E.A. Walling, L.L. and

Lord, E.M. (2000). A Lipid Transfer–like Protein Is Necessary for Lily Pollen Tube Adhesion to an in Vitro Stylar Matrix. Plant Cell **12**, 151-164. Pelaz, S., Ditta, G.S., Baumann, E., Wisman, E. and Yanofsky, M.F. (2000). B and C organ identity functions require *SEPALLATA* MADS box genes. Nature **405**, 200-203.

Quattrocchio, F., Wing, J.F., der Woude, K., Mol, J.N.M. and Koes, R. (1998). Analysis of bHLH and MYB domain proteins: speciesspecific regulatory differences are caused by divergent evolution of target anthocyanin genes. Plant J. **13**, 475-488.

Raff, R.A. (1996). The shape of life: Genes, development and the evolution of animal form. (Chicago: University of Chicago Press).

Riechmann, J.L., Krizek, B.A. and Meyerowitz, E.M. (1996). Dimerization specificity of Arabidopsis MADS domain homeotic proteins APETALA1, APETALA3, PISTILLATA and AGAMOUS. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 93, 4793-4798.

Savidge, B., Rounsley, S.D. and Yanofsky, M.F. (1995). Temporal relationship between the transcription of two Arabidopsis MADS box genes and the floral organ identity genes. Plant Cell **7**, 721-733.

Sawa, S.K., Watanabe, K., Goto, K., Kanaya, E., Morita, E.H. and Okada K. (1999). *FILAMENTOUS FLOWER*, a meristem and organ identity gene of Arabidopsis, encodes a protein with a zinc finger and HMG-related domains. Genes & Dev. **13**, 1079-1088.

Schmidt, R.J. and Ambrose, B.A. (1998). The blooming of grass flower development. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 1, 60-67.

Sessa, G., Steindler, C., Morelli, G. and Ruberti, I. (1998). The Arabidopsis *ATHB-8*,-9 and -14 genes are members of a small gene family coding for highly related HD-ZIP proteins. Plant Mol. Biol. **38**, 609-622.

Sessions, A. and Yanofsky, M.F. (1999). Dorsoventral patterning in plants. Genes & Dev. 13, 1051-1054.

Shi, L., Gast, R.T., Gopalraj, M. and Olszewski, N. E. (1992). Characterization of a shootspecific, GA₃ - and ABA-regulated gene from tomato. Plant J. **2**, 153-159.

Sieburth, L.E., Running, M.P. and Meyerowitz, E.M. (1995). Genetic separation of third and fourth whorl functions of *AGAMOUS*. Plant Cell **7**, 1249-1258.

Siegfried, K. R., Eshed, Y., Baum, S. F., Otsuga, D., Drews, G. N. and Bowman, J. L. (1999). Members of the YABBY gene family specify abaxial cell fate in Arabidopsis. Development **126**, 4117-4128.

Sossountzov, L., Ruiz-Avila, L., Vignois, F., Jolliot, A., Arondel, V., Tchang, F., Grosbois, M., Guerbette, F., Miginiac, E., Delseny, M., Puidomenèch, P. and Kader, J.-C. (1991) Spatial and temporal expression of a maize lipid transfer protein gene. Plant Cell **3**, 923-933.

Steindler, C., Matteucci, A., Sessa, G., Weimar, T., Ohgishi, M., Aoyama, T., Morelli, G and Ruberti, I. (1999). Shade avoidance responses are mediated by the ATHB-2 HD-Zip protein, a negative regulator of gene expression. Development **126**, 4235-4245.

Sterk, P., Booij, H., Schellekens, G.A., van Kammen, A., de Vries, S.C. (1991). Cellspecific expression of the carrot EP2 lipid transfer protein gene. Plant Cell **3**, 907-921.

Sundström, J., Carlsbecker, A., Svensson, M.E., Svenson, M., Johanson, U., Theissen, G. and Engström, P. (1999). MADS-box genes active in developing pollen cones of Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) are homologous to the B-class floral homeotic genes in angiosperms. Dev. Genet. **25**, 253-266.

Svensson, M.E., Johannesson, H. and Engström, P. (2000). The *LAMB1* gene from the clubmoss, *Lycopodium annotinum*, is a divergent MADS-box gene, expressed specifically in sporogenic structures. Gene, **253**, 31-43.

Schwarz-Sommer, Zs., Hue, I., Huijser, P., Flor, P.J., Hansen, R., Tetens, F., Lönnig, W.-E., Saedler, H. And Sommer, H. (1992) Characterization of the *Antirrhinum* floral homeotic MADS-box gene *DEFICIENS*: evidence for DNA binding and autoregulation of its persistent expression throughout flower development. EMBO J. **11**, 251-263.

Söderman, E., Mattson, J., Svenson, M., Borkird, C. and Engström, P. (1994). Expression patterns of novel genes encoding homeodomain leucine zipper proteins in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plant Mol. Biol. 26, 145-154.

Söderman, E., Hjellström, M., Fahleson, J. and Engström, P. (1999). The HD-Zip gene *ATHB6* in Arabidopsis is expressed in developing leaves, roots and carpels and up-regulated by water deficit conditions. Plant Mol. Biol. **40**, 1073-1083.

Tandre, K., Albert, V.A., Sundås, A. and Engström, P. (1995). Conifer homologues to genes that control floral development in angiosperms. Plant Mol. Biol. **27**, 69-78.

Tandre, K., Svenson, M., Svensson, M. E. and Engström, P. (1998). Conservation of gene structure and activity in the regulation of reproductive organ development of conifers and angiosperms. Plant J. **15**, 615-623.

Taylor, B. H. and Scheuring, C. F. (1994). A molecular marker for lateral root initiation: The *Rsi-1* gene of tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill) is activated in early lateral root primordia. Mol. Gen. Genet. **243**, 148-157.

Theißen, G., Kim, J.T. and Saedler, H. (1996). Classification and phylogeny of the MADSbox multigene family suggest defined roles of MADS-box gene subfamilies in the morphological evolution of eucaryotes. J. Mol. Evol. **43**, 484-516.

Theißen, G., Becker, A., Di Rosa, A., Kanno, A., Kim, J.T., Münster, T., Winter, K.-U. and Saedler, H. (2000). A short history of MADS box genes in plants. Plant Mol. Biol. **42**, 115-149.

Thoma, S., Kaneko, Y. and Somerville, C. (1993). A non-specific lipid transfer protein from *Arabidopsis* is a cell wall protein. Plant Journal **3**, 427-436.

Tröbner, W., Ramirez, L., Motte, P., Hue, I., Huijser, P., Lönnig, W.-E., Saedler, H., Sommer, H. and Scwarz-Sommer, Zs. (1992). *Globosa*: a homeotic gene which interacts with *deficiens* in the control of *Antirrhinum* floral organogenesis. EMBO J. **11**, 4693-4704.

Walbot, V. and Holder, N. (1987). Developmental Biology. (New York, Random House).

Wang, D.Y.-C., Kumar, S. and Hedges, S.B. (1999). Divergence time estimates for the early history of animal phyla and the origin of plants, animal and fungi. Proc. R. Soc. London B Biol. sci. 266, 163-171.

Wessler, S., Bureau, T. and White, S. (1995). LTR-retrotransposons and MITEs: Important players in the evolution of plant genomes. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 5, 814-821.

Xiao, S., Zhang, Y. and Knoll, A.H. (1998). Three-dimensional preservation of algae and animal embryos in a Neoproterozoic phosphorite. Nature **391**, 553-558.

Yanofsky, M.F., Ma, H., Bowman, J.L., Drews, G.N., Feldman, K.A. and Meyerowitz, E.M. (1990) The protein encoded by the Arabidopsis homeotic gene *AGAMOUS* resembles transcription factors. Nature, **346**, 35-39.